

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

Theses and Dissertations

2022-08-09

Effects of Localized Irrigation and Fertilizer on Woody Plant Establishment in Degraded Semi-Arid Environments

Holley M. Lund Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

Part of the Life Sciences Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Lund, Holley M., "Effects of Localized Irrigation and Fertilizer on Woody Plant Establishment in Degraded Semi-Arid Environments" (2022). *Theses and Dissertations*. 9674. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/9674

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Effects of Localized Irrigation and Fertilizer on Woody Plant Establishment in Degraded Semi-

Arid Environments

Holley M. Lund

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Bradley D. Geary, Chair Matthew D. Madsen Roger T. Koide

Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2022 Holley M. Lund

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Effects of Localized Irrigation and Fertilizer on Woody Plant Establishment in Degraded Semi-Arid Environments

Holley M. Lund Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, BYU Master of Science

Semi-arid native plant communities worldwide are often disturbed either intentionally or incidentally by human activity. In order to restore ecological function after human activities cease, native plant communities need to be restored. Woody plants are important to ecological function for many reasons including reducing erosion and providing food and shelter for wildlife. Unfortunately, woody plant establishment in these areas has proven to be challenging. Direct seeding efforts can be hindered by poor germination and low seedling emergence. To overcome this, seedling transplants are often used in harsh sites. However, transplanted woody seedlings often experience high mortality during the first year, predominantly as a result of stress during the summer. The Waterboxx® device is a tool that collects precipitation and condensates into a polypropylene reservoir, slowly releasing the water into the soil next to the seedling. Low soil fertility can also limit seedling establishment. In two studies, we evaluated the use of Waterboxx® devices with one wick or two wicks, and/or fertilizer as tools for establishing seedlings on a reclaimed waste rock pile. We also looked at the effects of either placing the Waterboxx® on the soil surface or burying the Waterboxx® partway into the ground. The first study focused on different species in the Waterboxx®. Species planted in the first study were Atriplex canescens, Cercocarpus ledifolius, Pinus edulis, Purshia tridentata and Rhus glabra. The second study focused on number of wicks, addition of fertilizer, and method of Waterboxx® installation. This study was conducted with only one species: C. ledifolius. In both studies, the Waterboxx® device improved survival and vigor. In the second study, fertilizer was detrimental to seedling survival, and Waterboxx® devices installed on top of the soil had no difference in survival or vigor compared to the control, but partially buried devices were better than the control and Waterboxx® devices with two wicks had the best C. ledifolius seedling survival. Based on the results obtained, Waterboxx® devices were a viable method for most of these species in improving their establishment on mine land overburden sites in the semi-arid mountain west and additional research is merited for other areas of the world.

Keywords: restoration, Waterboxx®, transplant, woody plant establishment, water management

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Words cannot express my gratitude to my advisor and committee chair, Dr. Brad Geary, for his wonderful guidance and feedback. I also could not have completed this journey without the other members of my defense committee, Dr. Matthew Madsen and Dr. Roger Koide, who provided great insight and expertise. Additionally, I am deeply indebted to Rio Tinto for their generous support in financing my research and to the individual employees that helped make my field studies possible. I am also grateful to my classmates, especially to those in the Geary and Madsen labs for their help in implementing my fieldwork.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Effects of Localized Irrigation and Fertilizer on Woody Plant Establishment in Degraded
Semi-Arid Environmentsi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLESix
CHAPTER 1 1
Waterboxx® Water Collection for the Improvement of Woody Plant Species Establishment
on Mine Overburden 1
ABSTRACT 1
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS 5
Study Site
Evaluation of Difference Species in Waterboxx® Field Trial
Data Analysis
RESULTS9
Precipitation and Air Temperature9
Soil Water Potential
Survival Percentage 10
Vigor11

DISCUSSION 11
LITERATURE CITED 16
FIGURES
TABLES
CHAPTER 2
Evaluation of Techniques for Transplanting Curl Leaf Mountain Mahogany Seedlings on
Mine Overburden using the Groasis Waterboxx®
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Study Site
Modification to Waterboxx® Devices with Fertilizer Field Trial
Data Analysis
RESULTS
Precipitation and Air Temperature
Survival Percentage
Vigor
DISCUSSION
LITERATURE CITED
FIGURES 40
TABLES
APPENDIX
SUPPLEMENTAL STUDIES 47

Soil Water Movement Greenhouse Trial	. 47
Greenhouse Sorghum bicolor Trial	. 48
Growth Chamber Host Plant and Soil Depth Trial	. 50
Greenhouse Perlite Trial	. 51
Commercial Mycorrhizae Trial	. 52
Outdoor Compost Trial	. 53

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 A comparison of precipitation and ambient temperatures experienced during the study
(2020-2022) compared to long-term averages (1991-2021) at the study site
Figure 2 Atriplex canescens seedling grown in a ~655 cm3 tree pot, wrapped with Vexar®
caging before plantings (left) and (right) A. canescens seedling grown after planting and
installation of Waterboxx® device
Figure 3 Percent seedling survival when planted in fall of 2020 and spring of 2021 with
Waterboxx® devices and without (control). Student t-tests were used to compare the difference
in percent survival between treatments among the same species at each sample date. *Significant
differences (P<0.05)
Figure 4 Average vigor ratings for each species by treatment. Student t-tests were used to
compare the difference in average vigor rating between treatments among the same species.
*Significant differences (P<0.05)
Figure 5. Fall and spring planting soil water potential at 10, 20, and 40cm below seedlings with
Waterboxx® devices (Box) and without (Control). Error bars show a 95% confidence of fit.
Figure 6 A comparison of precipitation and ambient temperatures experienced during the study
(2021-2022) compared to long-term averages (1991-2021) at the study site
Figure 7 Seedling grown in a ~655 cm3 tree pot, wrapped with Vexar® caging before plantings
(left) and (right) C. ledifolius seedling grown after planting and installation of Waterboxx®
device
Figure 8 Percent seedling survival for each treatment (C=Control, 1W=One wick Waterboxx®,
2W=Two wick Waterboxx®, F=Fertilizer, F1W=Fertilizer with one wick Waterboxx®,

F2W=Fertilizer with two wick Waterboxx®).Student t-tests were used to compare the difference
in percent seedling survival between the control and each treatment.*Significant differences
(P<0.05)
Figure 9 Comparison of percent seedling survival for each Waterboxx® treatments by sample
date (1W=One wick Waterboxx®, 2W=Two wick Waterboxx®, F1W=Fertilizer with one wick
Waterboxx®, F2W=Fertilizer with two wick Waterboxx®). Student t-tests were used to compare
the difference in percent seedling survival between each treatment. *Significant differences
(P<0.05)
Figure 10 Average vigor ratings for each treatment (C=Control, 1W=One wick Waterboxx®,
2W=Two wick Waterboxx®, F=Fertilizer, F1W=Fertilizer with one wick Waterboxx®,
F2W=Fertilizer with two wick Waterboxx®). Student t-tests were used to compare the difference
in average vigor rating between the control and each treatment. As well as between each
treatment. *Significant differences (P<0.05)
Figure 11 Progression of water movement through the soil from Waterboxx® devices installed
within a Plexiglas® box
Figure 12 Sorghum bicolor roots stained with Trypan blue viewed at 40x

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Mixed ANOVA results for the effects of species, treatment, and season on percent
survival after insignificant three and four way interactions were removed from the model 26
Table 2 Mixed ANOVA results for the effects of species, treatment, and season on vigor rating
after insignificant three and four way interactions were removed from the model
Table 3 Results of one way ANOVA for percent seedling survival. 46
Table 4 Results of one way ANOVA for average vigor rating

CHAPTER 1

Waterboxx® Water Collection for the Improvement of Woody Plant Species Establishment on

Mine Overburden

Holley M. Lund, Bradley D. Geary, Kate Ruebelmann, Roger T. Koide, Dennis L. Eggett, Matthew D. Madsen Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT Master of Science

ABSTRACT

Reclamation of mine and associated waste rock dumps can improve site aesthetics and ecosystem function. In the mountain west region of the United States, mining activities commonly occur in zones dominated by native woody plant cover. Woody plants are important to ecological function for many reasons, including reducing erosion and providing food and shelter for wildlife. Unfortunately, restoration of woody plants to these areas has proven to be challenging. Direct seeding efforts can be hindered by poor germination and low seedling emergence. To overcome this, seedling transplants are often used in harsh sites. However, transplanted woody plant seedlings frequently experience high mortality during the first year, particularly as plants are stressed during the summer drought period. This study evaluated the use of Waterboxx® devices as a tool for establishing seedlings on a waste rock pile. The Waterboxx® device collects precipitation and condensates into a polypropylene reservoir and then slowly releases the water into the soil next to the seedling. We planted 400 seedlings composed of five native woody plants, with and without a Waterboxx®, between the fall of 2020 and spring of 2021. Species planted included Atriplex canescens, Cercocarpus ledifolius, Pinus edulis, Purshia tridentata and Rhus glabra. The Waterboxx® device improved soil water availability and subsequently survival for four of the five species. The Waterboxx® device also improved vigor for three of the five species depending on the planting season. Based on the results obtained, Waterboxx® devices appear to be a viable method for most of these species in improving their establishment on mine land overburden sites in the semi-arid mountain west. The effectiveness of the Waterboxx® device in the semi-arid west of Utah suggests this technology could be used globally where water is a limiting factor for seedling establishment of some species; however, additional research is merited for other areas of the world.

INTRODUCTION

Land is often impacted by both natural and human-made events, which can lead to degradation. Depending on location and environmental factors, degradation can look like increased flooding, reduced streamflow, redeposition of soil, impacts on wildlife and a loss of biodiversity (Milton et al. 1994; James et al. 2013). The excavation of minerals from soil and rock can result in ecosystem disturbance which requires mitigation and remediation (Lovich & Bainbridge 1999). However, mineral products from mining are important for modern society and essential for the continued development of modern technology.

Globally, as of 2020, approximately 57,277km² of land is actively being mined (Maus et al. 2020). These operations move and reshape natural landscapes with large-scale excavation of ore and overburden rock, removal of vegetation, and deposition of overburden and tailings; material that may have geochemical conditions that are challenging to revegetate such as high acidity or low organic content (Mendez and Maier 2008). Reclamation of these sites is essential for improving site aesthetics and ecosystem functions (Sodhi & Ehrlich 2010).

Late-successional woody plants are often one of the most challenging groups of species to reestablish in woody plant land ecosystems impacted by mining or other natural or artificial disturbances (Paschke et al. 2002; McAdoo et al. 2013; Shriver et al. 2019; Pyke et al. 2020). Direct seeding efforts can be hindered due to poor germination and low seedling emergence and establishment (Ungar 1978; Ungar & Khan 2001). To overcome this bottleneck, nursery-grown seedlings are commonly transplanted in harsh sites (Pilliod et al. 2017; Pyke et al. 2020).

Transplanting container seedlings can result in greater establishment success than direct seeding but can still experience failure, which is often due to inadequate root systems to survive low precipitation during the summer months. However, after the first year growing season, many semi-arid woody plant species can tolerate severe drought because root systems are sufficiently established to support the plant (Bainbridge 2007). Consequently, reclamation technologies and techniques that can improve water availability directly after planting have the potential to increase transplanting success (Lovich and Bainbridge 1999).

There are several different technologies for increasing the quantity of available water to a transplanted seedling. Selecting a technology that will be most efficient for a site depends on many factors. These include plant species and size, soil type, climate, microclimate, local water availability, weed competition, project budget, site access, and available labor and tools (Kulkarni et al. 2011; Tapia et al. 2019).

Water collection systems are among the most effective water management tools for mitigating drought conditions (Bainbridge 2007; Tapia et al. 2019). These systems consist of a catchment device with a storage tank that collects precipitation, and with some designs, they also collect condensation. The captured water can then be stored and locally distributed to seedlings planted nearby even when precipitation is low (Kulkarni et al. 2011; Serra-Wittling et al. 2019; Tapia et al. 2019; Gil-Docampo et al. 2020).

The Waterboxx® device (Groasis Water Saving Technologies, Steenbergen, North Brabant, Netherlands) is a localized water catchment system that is installed over transplanted seedlings to provide supplemental water. This technology has been utilized in semi-arid environments from Alicante, Spain to the Galapagos Islands, Ecuador (Tapia et al. 2019; Gil-Docampo et al. 2020). It consists of a 50 cm diameter cylindrical container that serves as a reservoir with a central

opening where two seedlings are planted. Water is fed into the soil through capillary action via a rope wick connected to the base of the reservoir. Soil water lost to evaporation is minimized by the presence of a cover on the soil surface surrounding the seedlings. The plastic that forms the device has a high specific heat capacity and a low thermal conductivity which allows the material to absorb a lot of heat but also prevent that heat from moving too much (Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology 2021). Due to this, more energy is needed to warm the device and the device stays cool longer. When the device is cooler than the surrounding night air, the dew point is more quickly reached, and condensation may occur (Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology 2021). This condensation, and any precipitation, is collected by a concave, grooved cover, and stored in the reservoir thereby resupplying the water released to the soil.

The Waterboxx® has the potential to improve transplant survival and expand the window seedlings can be planted. For example, in regions of the western United States where most precipitation is received during the winter period, seedlings are commonly planted in the fall. Seedlings planted in the fall have more time to develop adequate root systems before drought stress, in contrast to planting in spring, which provides minimal time before the onset of summer drought (Davidson et al. 2019; Clements & Harmon 2019). However, fall plantings can also experience mortality as the need to tolerate freezing temperatures and frost heaving of the soil (Davidson et al. 2019). The Waterboxx® has the potential to expand the window in which seedlings are sown by buffering against inhospitable growing conditions at multiple times of the year.

Here, we present a study to assess the Waterboxx® in its ability to 1) improve soil water status, 2) increase the survival and vigor of native tree and woody plant transplants; and also 3) evaluate if there are differences in planting success between fall and late spring planting seasons.

The research was conducted at the Bingham Canyon Mine near Salt Lake City, Utah U.S.A. This mine is ideal for evaluating the performance of the Waterboxx® due to the extensive reclamation efforts being conducted on site, which includes a focus on the reintroduction of various native woody plants. This mine began operations in 1903 on the porphyry copper deposit (Tooker 1990) and has produced more than three billion metric tons of waste rock, referred to as overburden, deposited in valleys and inclines in the nearby Oquirrh Mountain Range (Borden & Black 2005). Our research was focused on evaluating the Waterboxx® for improving plant establishment on a reclaimed overburden hillside at the Bingham Canyon Mine.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Site

Waterboxx® devices were installed at the Bingham Canyon Copper Mine located in the Oquirrh mountain range, on the Yosemite waste rock dump (40.51263889, -112.1182611). The location of the site is associated with the Mountain Loan (Oak) (R047XA432UT) ecological site (Soil Survey Staff 2022). This area is located at an elevation of 1873 m within the mountain brush zone, which forms a transition between coniferous forest above and pinyon-juniper woodlands at lower elevations (Banner 1992). Prior to being covered by mine overburden, the site was most likely dominated by small trees and woody plants.

Overburden materials deposited on the hillslope consist of varying ratios of monzonite, quartzite, and limestone (Borden 2001; Borden 2003). In 2015, the site was reclaimed by decreasing the slope of the hill to approximately 12% and covering the area with a 1-m thick layer of crushed rock and topsoil. This growth media was then ripped perpendicular to the slope using dozers to create small terraces ~ 0.5 m wide and spaced ~ 1 m apart. The site was then hydroseeded with a seed mix of comprised of native and introduced species, set forth by the

Division of Oil and Gas Mining. Introduced perennial grasses were the most successful at establishing with *Thinopyrum intermedium* L. (intermediate wheat grass), being the dominant species. There were also smaller amounts of other native and introduced grasses and forbs, and only a trace number of woody plants, except for *Ericameria nauseosa* ex Pursh G.L. Nesom & Baird (rubber rabbitbrush). Ten soil samples were collected in a random pattern across the Yosemite waste rock dump at a depth of 30cm. All samples were combined and then submitted to the BYU Environmental Analytical Laboratory for analysis. The combined soil had a pH of 7.5, with a gravelly clay loam soil texture and Mean yearly precipitation at the site is ~613 mm (Figure 1) (Prism Climate Group 2021).

Evaluation of Difference Species in Waterboxx® Field Trial

The Waterboxx® field experiment was installed as a randomized split-split-plot design with ten replicates installed in two different planting seasons. The ten main plots were split by planting season with one season randomly assigned the north or south side of each plot. These sub plots were further split by the five native woody species, planted with and without a Waterboxx®. Planting occurred in the fall (November 2020) and in late spring (May 2021). *Cercocarpus ledifolius* Nutt. (curl leaf mountain mahogany), *Rhus glabra* L. (smooth sumac), *Pinus edulis* Englem. (pinyon pine), *Atriplex canescens* [Pursh] Nutt. (fourwing saltbush), and *Purshia tridentata* [Pursh] DC. (antelope bitterbrush) were planted in both seasons. For plantings without the Waterboxx®, we planted two seedlings spread ~15 cm apart with the same cardinal orientation.

Prior to planting, seedlings were caged with Vexar®, (Forestry Suppliers, Jackson, Mississippi), a flexible UV inhibited polyethylene and polypropylene material (Figure 2). Each seedling was wrapped in its entirety to deter herbivory of roots and shoots from rodents and

ungulates (Figure 2). Holes for planting were dug with a 30.5 cm diameter motorized auger (Kohler Co., Kohler, Wisconsin) and debris was cleaned out by hand with a shovel. Seedlings were planted deep enough that the soil level met the root flare.

Waterboxx® devices were installed according to manufacturer recommendations (Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology 2021). Prior to planting, evaporation covers (i.e., rectangular corrugated plastic designed to discourage soil water evaporation) were trimmed to fit around the seedling pairs on top of the soil. Waterboxx® devices were placed over the seedlings with the wicks pointing inward toward the seedlings and lightly covered in soil. The water filling caps in the cover were positioned to face north (Figure 2). These boxes were backfilled around the outside with soil and rock ~10 cm high to hold them in place. We applied 3 L of water to both seedling pairs planted with and without a Waterboxx®. Waterboxx® devices were then filled with 15 L of water.

Soil water potential was measured on the *C. ledifolius* plantings with and without a Waterboxx®, in three blocks per planting season. Soil water potential was measured at 10, 20, and 40 cm depths below the soil surface with Teros 21 water potential sensors (METER Group, Inc. Pullman, WA, USA). These are dielectric matric potential sensors that measure the charge-storing capacity of a ceramic disc to determine its water content and then use the moisture characteristic of the disc to convert water content to water potential. Water potential measurements were taken every two hours with values stored with EM50/ZL6 data loggers (METER Group, Inc. Pullman, WA, USA).

Seedling survival was evaluated on 15 June 2020, 14 October 2020, and 5 May 2022 and was determined by a scratch test, which was done by using a fingernail to gently scratch 0.5 cm of bark approximately halfway up the stem to reveal the cambium layer. Seedlings with stems that

revealed wet, green cambium tissue were rated living. Those with dry, brittle, and brown cambium were rated dead.

Vigor was evaluated on 5 May 2022 and was determined by rating on a scale from 1 to 5. Rating categories were designated in this manner: 1- seedling was dead; 2- seedling had 0-25% leaf cover on existing branches; 3- seedling had 26-50% leaf cover on existing branches; 4- seedling had 51-75% leaf cover on existing branches; 5- seedling had 76-100% leaf cover on existing branches.

Data Analysis

All analyses were conducted with JMP® version 16 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Repeated measures mixed model analysis was used to analyze percent survival. Blocks were considered random effects while season, species, and treatment were considered fixed effects and sampling date was the repeated measure. Three- and four-way interactions between species, treatment, planting season, and sample date were included in initial models, but in order to form simpler models, model terms were dropped when not found to be significant. Student t-tests were used to compare the difference with and without a Waterboxx® among the same species and sampling period.

Mixed model analysis was used to analyze percent average vigor rating. Plots and side of plot were considered random effects while season, species, and treatment were considered fixed effects. Three- and four-way interactions between species, treatment, planting season, side of plot, and plots were included in initial models, but in order to form simpler models, model terms were dropped when not found to be significant. For these metrics Student t-tests were used to compare the difference with and without a Waterboxx® among the same species.

Sensors measuring soil water potential were averaged by soil depth and treatment and 95% confidence intervals were determined. Treatment effects were considered significant if the confidence intervals did not overlap each other.

RESULTS

Precipitation and Air Temperature

The research site had just been through a severe drought when the study was installed in November 2020 (Figure 1). This trend continued with precipitation in the first 3 months of the study ranging between 37- 46% of normal. Except for February, the site remained dry through the winter. During the spring planting in May 2021 conditions were also dry with precipitation 14% of normal. From June 2021-December 2021 precipitation varied highly from month to month ranging between 12 - 290% of normal. Air temperatures were also above average for most of the study, with some periods being well above average, particularly during the summer months of July 2020 and June 2021 (Figure 1).

Soil Water Potential

For the fall planting, the water potential sensors reported extremely negative values during the winter month 2020-2021, which may be due to inadequate contact with the soil in combination with freezing conditions (Figure 3). Sensors began to be operational by late winter.

Soil water potential associated with the fall and spring plantings was generally wetter under Waterboxx® devices than sites without a Waterboxx®, for most of the study (Figure 3). In May, the beginning of spring, soil water potential began to drop from full saturation (Figure 3). The decrease was slower with Waterboxx® devices at all depths with water potential at 40 cm dropping below -1 MPa at the end of June compared to the control that dropped below that point at 40 cm by the end of May (Figure 3). Mid-August was also another example where the

Waterboxx® devices decreased the rate and severity of drying during a drought period (Figure 3).

Survival Percentage

Overall seedling survival was not different between fall and spring plantings, (P= 0.863), but there was an interaction between season and treatment (P<0.001). This interaction was primarily due to *C. ledifolius*, *P. edulis*, and *P. tridentata. Cercocarpus ledifolius* had relatively high survival in the fall for both treatments but with the spring planting, survival at the end of the sampling period was increased by the Waterboxx® from 30% to 65% (Figure 4). *Pinus edulis* had relatively high survival in the spring for both treatments but with the fall planting survival at the end of the sampling period was increased by the Waterboxx® from 35% to 75% (Figure 4). By May 2022, *Purshia tridentata* had no difference in fall planting among treatments, but in the spring planting the Waterboxx® treatment increased survival at the end of the sampling period from 15% to 55% (Figure 4).

Treatment and species were significant (P < 0.001) and there was an interaction between these effects (P < 0.001), which indicates that species responded differently to treatments (Table 1). Seedlings transplanted in the fall of 2020 had significant increases in seedling survival for *P*. *edulis*, *P. tridentata*, and *R. glabra* with increases in survival of 40%, 25% and 45%, respectively by May 2022. There were no differences in transplant survival with and without a Waterboxx® for *C. ledifolius* and *A. canescens*, as most of the transplants for these species had high survival rates (77.5% and 92.5% respectively) (Figure 4). Seedling survival for all species tended to decrease over time with *C. ledifolius*, *P. edulis*, and *P. tridentata* decreasing more in the summer months from May to October, but the Waterboxx® devices clearly increased survival during this low water period for *P. edulis*, *P. tridentata*, and *R. glabra* (Figure 4).

Purshia tridentata and *R. glabra* seedlings transplanted in the spring of 2021 had significant increases in survival through the summer months of 2021 when transplanted with Waterboxx® devices (Figure 4). However, after winter 2021-2022, *P. edulis* no longer had significant increases in survival with Waterboxx® devices, and *C. ledifolius* for the first time had significant increases in survival with Waterboxx® devices (Figure 4). *Atriplex canescens* seedlings with no Waterboxx® (control) were not significantly different from seedlings with Waterboxx® devices (Figure 3). Survival of seedlings over the summer (June – Oct) tended to decrease but *P. tridentata* and *R. glabra* remained constant when transplanted with Waterboxx® devices (Figure 4).

Vigor

Treatment and species vigor were significantly different (P < 0.001) and there was an interaction between the species and season (P=0.003; Table 2). For the fall planting, *P. edulis* and *Rhus glabra* seedlings had higher average vigor ratings when planted with a Waterboxx® device (Figure 5). For the spring planting, *C. ledifolius*, *P.* edulis, and *P. tridentata* seedlings had higher vigor ratings on average when planted with a Waterboxx® device (Figure 5). *Atriplex canescens* was the only species not significantly affected by treatment in either planting season (Figure 5).

DISCUSSION

Mining in the United States Mountain west often occurs in semi-arid regions dominated by native trees and woody plants. Restoration efforts using native tree and woody plant seedlings in these areas has proven to be challenging as transplanted seedlings experience high mortality during the first year, likely due to limited water resources. Water management tools like the Waterboxx® can help native tree and woody plant establishment and survival in semi-arid

environments by providing water during hot, dry periods (Tapia et al. 2019; Gil-Docampo et al. 2020). As hypothesized, the results of our study provide evidence that Waterboxx® devices are a viable method for improving the establishment of native trees and woody plants on mine land overburden sites for most species. Survival and vigor rating were greater with Waterboxx® devices for four of the five species depending on the planting season.

Improved seedling survival and vigor with the Waterboxx® may a result of mitigating drought stress on the seedlings during dry summer months. The results of our study indicate that the Waterboxx® devices may lower drought stress by providing higher and more constant soil moisture with the initial 15 L of water and/or condensates collected by the device.

During the summer months, high temperatures increase the risk of heat damage which can be minimized by leaf cooling through transpiration (Hetherington & Woodward 2003). However, increased transpiration requires increased water use that may not be available during the summer drought period. Since drought drastically reduces transpiration, it can be very difficult to separate the direct effects of high temperature from those of drought (Gates 1968). Our results suggest the Waterboxx® device addresses both effects of high temperature and drought. Combined with the water supplied to the soil from the devices, this potentially reduces heat stress and drought stress through increased soil water available for transpiration.

Soil water potential is a measure of the energy necessary for removing water from soil. Drought reduces the soil water potential and thereby the ability of plants to remove water from the soil (Munns 2011). Soil moisture data from installed sensors suggest the water supplied to the soil from Waterboxx® devices helped maintain higher and more constant soil water potentials. In our study, the soil water potential beneath seedlings with Waterboxx® devices was generally

higher and decreased more slowly, while soil water potential beneath seedlings without a Waterboxx® device decreased rapidly and reached much lower water potentials.

According to the manufacturer's installation instructions, when a Waterboxx® device is installed, seedlings planted inside should be watered directly with 3 L of water and an additional 15 L should be used to fill the Waterboxx® reservoir. This additional 15 L can be seen as part of the Waterboxx® device system. Because there was not a separate treatment consisting of a Waterboxx® device without the initial 15 L, it is not known if the 15 L of water, the Waterboxx® devices, or the combination of the initial 15L and the Waterboxx® device are responsible for the improved seedling survival. However, the Waterboxx® device system as a whole did improve seedling survival and increase vigor in our study.

Three seedling species had higher survival rates when planted with Waterboxx® devices than without for only one of the planting seasons. These were: *C. ledifolius* planted in spring, *P. edulis* planted spring, and *P. tridentata* planting in fall. Vigor ratings were higher in the fall planting *for P. edulis* and *R. glabra* and higher in the spring for *C. ledifolius*, *P. edulis*, and *P. tridentata*. Survival and vigor of *A. canescens* was not affected in either season.

Overall, *A. canescens* seedlings had high survival rates and vigor ratings regardless of treatment and may establish well without the aid of water management tools due to the species. This species is widely distributed in semi-arid regions and has been used extensively in reclamation projects for erosion control due to its resistance to soil salinity, drought, and its overall strong environmental adaptability (Benzarti et al. 2013; Al-Masri et al. 2014; Dengke et al. 2022). This adaptability is shown in this species' ability to grow in areas where the mean annual precipitation is less than 100-400mm, the elevation is anywhere from sea level to 2800m, the soil is sandy to heavy in clay content, and the temperature drops below -20°C (LeHouerou

1992; Fitzsimmons et al. 1998; Alfonso et al. 2011; Chahouki & Zarei 2011; Al-Masri et al. 2014). Our results suggest *A. canescens* is a good species for mine land restoration in semi-arid environments that may not need the aid of water management tools, and survival of the seedlings may be due to something other than the additional water the Waterboxx® devices provide.

For the fall planting, *C. ledifolius* seedlings showed no difference in survival between treatments but there was a difference for the spring planting. Seedlings used for spring planting were smaller in size than those used for fall planting and may have affected survival for this planting. However, overall seedling survival and average vigor ratings for both treatments were high, which may be due to the species ability to grow in dry conditions and poor soils, similar to *A. canescens* where the additional water may not be the limiting factor in seedlings survival. *Cercocarpus ledifolius* is a broadleaf evergreen native to western North America that grows at high elevations on warm, dry, rocky ridges and slopes (Davis and Brotherson 1991). It can grow on a variety of soil types, even rocky, gravelly, and shallow soil (Wasser 1982). Like other species of this genus, it has been documented to form nodules with nitrogen fixing bacteria that may help with nutrient deficiencies in low fertility soils by converting free nitrogen to ammonia, which the host plant can use (Youngberg and Hu 1972). Our results suggest *C. ledifolius* is a good species for mine overburden restoration in semi-arid environments, with or without the aid of water management tools.

Pinus edulis seedlings planted in the fall had a significant difference in survival between treatments, but for the spring planting, there was no difference. There was, however, a difference between treatments for vigor rating for both planting seasons. *Pinus edulis* is a beneficial species because it has been used previously to restore degraded sites and aid with erosion control (Wood et al. 1995). This species also forms relationships with ectomycorrhiza that enhance nutrient and

water uptake (Gehring & Whitham 1994). Communities of *P. edulis* also provide food and shelter for large game, small mammals, and a variety of bird species (Rasmussen 1941; Meeuwig & Bassett 1983).

Purshia tridentata is a favorable shrub for restoration because it is a key forage for large mammals (Guenther et al. 1993), a source of seed for granivores (Vander Wall 1994), and an early season source of pollen and nectar for a variety of insects (Furniss 1983). Similarly, *R. glabra* also provides food for native animal species. Though the forage is considered poor, this species is grazed by large game and its fruits are consumed by a variety of birds (Strauss 1991; Johnson 1995). This species is also considered valuable because it can grow on disturbed sites for erosion control and reclaim land disturbed by mining due to its strong stress tolerance (Adams et al. 1986; Temple 1989).

Most restoration planting is done in fall or spring for various reasons. According to the Utah State University Forestry Extension (2022), the optimal time for planting seedlings is in the spring as moderate temperatures and adequate soil moisture are favorable for establishment. Though fall planting is possible, conditions may be drier and weather less favorable. A benefit of fall planting is it may allow people and equipment to get on site to plant the seedlings. Our results indicate that both planting seasons are favorable for woody plant restoration on mine overburden when using Waterboxx® devices, and that other factors (site accessibility, etc.) may influence planting time more than seedling survival.

The constant supply of water from the Waterboxx® device helps transplanted woody plants tolerate environmental stresses and increases successful establishment. Most native woody plant species do significantly better with the aid of the Waterboxx® device, but some native woody plant species are able to cope with the limited water and still establish depending on when they are planted. These woody plants may be considered better options in areas that are difficult to access with equipment other than hand tools. Woody plant seedling health has an influence on survival and needs to be studied for optimal results regardless of whether or not a Waterboxx® device is used.

Additional considerations for future restoration work with Waterboxx® devices should include prevention of debris and unwanted weeds on and inside the devices. During the study, many Waterboxx® devices were clogged with wind-blown soil and plants, mostly grasses, growing on the cover and inside the reservoir hydroponically. Debris and plants were removed by hand during data collections. Though the water use by these hydroponic plants was likely small, the blockage of collection tubes may significantly impact the ability of Waterboxx® devices to collect precipitation and condensates and, therefore, affect seedling survival.

LITERATURE CITED

- Adams RP, Balandrin MF, Brown KJ, Stone GA, Gruel SM (1986) Extraction of liquid fuels and chemicals from terrestrial higher plants, part I: Yields from a survey of 614 western United States plant taxa. *Biomass* 9:255-292
- Al-Masri MS, Mukalallati H, Al-Hamwi A (2014) Transfer factors of 226Ra, 201Pb and 210Po from NORM-contaminated oilfield soil to some atriplex species, alfalfa and Bermuda grass. *Radioprotection* 49:27-33
- Alfonso R, saucedo T, Luis J, Badillo-Almaraz J, Jurado-Guerra P (2011) Establishment of high-elevation fourwing saltbush (Atriplex canescens pursh nutt.) ecotypes in northern Mexico's oak-bunchgrass rangelands. *African Jounral of Plant Science* 5:767-772

Banner RE (1992) Vegetation Types of Utah. Rangelands 14: 109-114

Bainbridge DA (2007) A guide for desert and dryland restoration: new hope for arid lands. Island Press, Covelo, London

- Bingham Canyon Mine, Utah. Geochemical Exploration & Environmental Analysis 1:15-21
- Borden RK (2001) Geochemical evolution of sulfide-bearing waste rock soils at the
- Borden RK (2003) Environmental geochemistry of the Bingham Canyon porphyry copper deposit, Utah. *Environmental Geology* 43: 752-758
- Borden RK, Black R (2005) Volunteer revegetation of waste rock surfaces. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 34:2234-2242
- Benzart M, Rejeb KB, Debez A, Abdelly C (2013) Environmental and economical opportunities for the valorisation of the genus *Atriplex*: New Insights. *Crop Improvement* 441-457
- Chahouki MAZ, Zarei A (2011) Ecological effects of Atriplex canescens on planted areas in Iran. *Vegetos* 24:1-12
- Clements CD, Harmon DN (2019) Survivablity of Wyoming big sagebrush transplants. *Rangelands* 41:88-93
- Davidson BE, Germino MJ, Richardson B, Barnard DM (2019) Landscape and organismal factors affecting sagebrush-seedling transplant survival after megafire restoration. *Restoration Ecology* 27:1008-1020
- Davis JN, Brotherson JD (1991) Ecological relationships of curlleaf mountain-mahogany (cercocarpus-ledifolius nutt) communities in Utah and implications for management. *Great Basin Naturalist* 51: 153-166
- Fitzsimmons K, Lovely C, Glenn E (1998) Growth differences among widely separated geographic accessions of fourwing saltbush (Atriplex canescens) in the great basin desert, New Mexico, USA. *Arid Soil Research and Rehabilitation* 12:87-94
- Furniss MM (1983) Entymology of Antelope Bitterbrush. In: Tiedemann AR, Johnson KL, Kendall L (Eds.), Proceedings Research and Management of Bitterbrush and Cliffrose in Western North America General Technical Report INT-152. USDA Forest Service Intermountain Forest and Range Experimental Station, Ogden, Utah.
- Gates Dm (1968) Transpiration and leaf temperature. *Annual Review of Plant Phisiology* 19:211-238
- Gehring CA, Whitham TG (1994) Comparisons of ectomycorrhiae on pinyon pines (*Pinus edulis*; Pinaceae) across extremes of soil type and herbivory. *American Journal of Botany* 81:1509-1516

- Gil-Docampo ML, Ortiz-Sanz J, Martínez-Rodríguez S, Marcos-Robles JL, Arza-García M, Sánchez-Sastre LF (2020) Plant survival monitoring with UAVs and multispectral data in difficult access afforested areas. *Geocarto International* 35:128-140
- Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology (2003-2022) Planting Manual Groasis Waterboxx® https://www.groasis.com/en/manuals/how-to-plant-with-thetechnology-of-groasis (accessed 12 October 2020)
- Guenther GE, Wambolt CL, Frisina MR (1993) Characteristics of bitternrush habitats that influence canopy cover and mule deer browsing. *Journal of Environmental Management* 36:175-181
- Hetherington AM, Woodward FI (2003) The role of stomata in sensing and driving environmental change. *Nature* 424:901-908
- James JJ, Sheley RL, Erickson T, Rollins KS, Taylor MH, Dixon KW (2013) A systems approach to restoring degraded drylands. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 50:730-739
- Johnson FD (1995) *Rhus glabra* L. Page 212 In: Wild trees of Idaho. University of Idaho Press, Moscow, Idaho
- Kulkarni S (2011) Innovative technologies for water saving in irrigated agriculture. International Journal of Water Resources and Arid Environments 3: 226-231
- LeHouerou HN (1992) The role of saltbushes (Atriplex spp.) in arid land rehabilitation in the Mediterranean Basin: a review. *Agroforestry Systems* 18:107-148
- Lovich JE, Bainbridge DA (1999) Anthropogenic degradation of the southern California desert ecosystem and prospects for natural recovery and restoration. *Environmental Management* 24:309-326
- Ma D, He Z, Bai, Wang W, Zhai P, Ling P, Zhou H (2022) *Atriplex canescens*, a valuable plant in soil rehabilitation and forage production. A review. *Science of the Total Environment* 805:150287
- Maus V, Giljum S, Gutschlohofer J, de Silva DM, Probst M, Gass SLB, Luckeneder S, Lieber M, McCallum I (2020) A global-scale data set of mining areas. *Scientific Data* 7:1-13
- McAdoo JK, Boyd CS, Sheley RL (2013) Site, competition, and plant stock influence transplant success of Wyoming big sagebrush. *Rangeland Ecology and Management* 66:305-312
- Meeuwig RO, Bassett RL (1983) Pinyon-juniper. In: Burns, Russell M., compiler. Silvicultural systems for the major forest types of the United States. Pages 84-86 In: Agriculture Handbook No. 445. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Washington, DC

- Mendez MO, Maier RM (2008) Phytostabilization of mine tailings in arid and semiarid environments—An emerging remediation technology. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 116:278-283
- Milton SJ, Dean WRJ, du Plessis MA, Siegfried WR (1994) A conceptual model of arid rangeland degradation. *BioScience* 44:70-76
- Munns R (2011) Plant adaptations to salt and water stress: Differences and commonalities. *Advances in Botanical Research* 57:1-32
- National Mining Association (1995-2022) Fact Sheets https://nma.org/category/factsheets/ (accessed 11 November 2020)
- Paschke MW, Redente EF, Brown SL (2003) Biology and establishment of mountain woody plants on mining disturbances in the rocky mpuntains, USA. *Land Degradation and Development* 14:459-480
- Pilliod DS, Welty JL, Toevs GR (2017) Seventy-fire years of vegetation treatments on public rangelands in the Great Basin of North America. *Rangelands* 39:1-9
- PRISM Climate Group (1994-2022) Latest Prism Data https://www.prism.oregonstate.edu/explorer (accessed 28 March 2022)
- Pyke DA, Shriver RK, Arkle RS, Pilliod DS, Aldridge CL, Coates PS, Germino MJ, Heinrichs JA, Ricca MA, Shaff SE (2020) Postfire growth of seeded and planted big sagebrush—strategic designs for restoring greater sage-grouse nesting habitat. *Restoration Ecology* 28:1495-1504
- Rasmussen DI (1941) Biotic communities of Kaibab Plateau, Arizona. *Ecological* Monographs 11: 229-275
- Serra-Wittling C, Molle B, Cheviron B (2019) Plot level assessment of irrigation water savings due to the shift from sprinkler to localized irrigation systems or to the use of soil hydric status probes. Application in the French context. *Agriculture Water Management* 233
- Shriver RK, Andrews CM, Arkle RS, Barnard DM, Duniway MC, Germino MJ, Pilliod Ds, Pyke DA, Welty JL, Bradford JB (2019) Transient population dynamics impede restoration and may promote ecosystem transformation after disturbance. *Ecology Letters* 22:1357-1366
- Sodhi NS, Ehrlich PR (2010) Conservation biology for all. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York
- Soil Science Society of America (1997). Glossary of soil science terms. ([rev. ed.]). Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin
- Soil Survey Staff (2019) Web soil survey. NRCS, Washington, DC, USA. https://www.websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/ (accessed 5 November 2019)
- Strauss SY (1991) Direct, indirect, and cumulative effects of three native herbivores on a shared host plant. *Ecology* 72:543-558

- Tapia PI, Negoita L, Gibbs JP, Jaramillo (2019) Effectiveness of water-saving technologies during early stages of restoration of endemic *Opuntia* cacti in the Galapagos Islands, Ecuador. *PeerJ* 7:e8156
- Temple PJ (1989) Oxidant air pollution effects on plants of Joshua Tree National Monument. *Environmental Pollution* 57:35-47
- Tooker EW (1990) Gold in Bingham District, Utah. Pages 1-16 In: Shawe DR, Ashley RP (eds) USGS Bulletin 1857-E: Gold in Copper Porphyry Copper Systems. United States Geological Survey, Washington DC
- Ungar IA (1978) Halophyte seed germination. Botanical Review 44:233-264
- Ungar IA, Khan MA (2001) Effects of Bracteoles on seed germination and dispersal of two species of *Atriplex. Annals of botany* 87:233-239
- Utah State University Forestry Extension (2022) Tree Seedling Planting Guide https://forestry.usu.edu/news/utah-forest-facts/tree_seedling_planting_guide (accessed 24 March 2022)
- Vander Wall SB (1994) Seed fate [athways of antelope bitterbrush: dispersal by seedcaching yellow pine chipmunks. *Ecology* 75:1911-1926
- Whisenant SG, Thurow TL, Maranz SJ (1995) Initiating autogenic restoration on shallow semi arid sites. *Restoration Ecology* 3: 61-67
- Wood MK, Buchanan, Bruce A, Skeet W (1995) Woody plant preference and utilization by big game on New Mexico reclaimed mine land. *Journal of Range Management* 48:431-437
- Youngberg CT, Hu L (1972) Root nodules on mountain mahogany. *Forest Science* 18:211–212





Figure 1 A comparison of precipitation and ambient temperatures experienced during the study (2020-2022) compared to long-term averages (1991-2021) at the study site.



Figure 2 Atriplex canescens seedling grown in a ~655 cm3 tree pot, wrapped with Vexar® caging before plantings (left) and (right) A. canescens seedling grown after planting and installation of Waterboxx® device



Figure 3 Fall and spring planting soil water potential at 10, 20, and 40cm below seedlings with Waterboxx® devices (Box) and without (Control). Error bars show a 95% confidence of fit.



Figure 4 Percent seedling survival when planted in fall of 2020 and spring of 2021 with Waterboxx® devices and without (control). Student t-tests were used to compare the difference in percent survival between treatments among the same species at each sample date. *Significant differences (P<0.05)



Spring Planting



Figure 5 Average vigor ratings for each species by treatment. Student t-tests were used to compare the difference in average vigor rating between treatments among the same species. *Significant differences (P < 0.05)

TABLES

Table 1 Mixed ANOVA results for the effects of species, treatment, and season on percent	t
survival after insignificant three- and four-way interactions were removed from the model.	•

Source	DF (Num, Den)	F Ratio	Prob > F
Species	4, 4	42.84	<0.001*
Treatment	1, 1	90.43	<0.001*
Species*Treatment	4, 4	10.13	<0.001*
Season	1, 1	0.30	0.863
Species*Season	4, 4	8.75	<0.001*
Treatment*Season	1, 1	0.37	0.5441

*Significant differences (P<0.05) are highlighted in bold.

Table 2 Mixed ANOVA results for the effects of species, treatment, and season on vigor rating after insignificant three- and four-way interactions were removed from the model.

Source	DF (Num, Den)	F Ratio	Prob > F
Species	4, 4	9.38	<0.001*
Treatment	1, 1	20.28	<0.001*
Species*Treatment	4, 4	1.46	0.216
Season	1, 1	0.01	0.918
Species*Season	4, 4	4.21	0.003*
Treatment*Season	1, 1	0.28	0.596
Species*Treatment*Season	4, 4	1.39	0.264

*Significant differences (P<0.05) are highlighted in bold.

CHAPTER 2

Evaluation of Techniques for Transplanting Curl Leaf Mountain Mahogany Seedlings on Mine

Overburden using the Groasis Waterboxx®

Holley M. Lund, Bradley D. Geary, Kate Ruebelmann, Roger T. Koide, Matthew D. Madsen Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT Master of Science

ABSTRACT

Semi-arid native plant communities worldwide are often disrupted through human activity. When the activity stops the areas need to be restored back to native plant communities for ecological function. Cercocarpus ledifolius is a valuable woody browse species native to western North America and is important for soil renewal and wildlife habitat. It is capable of growing in rocky soil and steep slopes, which makes it a good candidate for restoration of disturbed sites in the semi-arid mountain west. Woody plant establishment in this region is often difficult due to summer drought conditions and low soil fertility. Direct seeding efforts can be hindered by poor germination and low seedling emergence. To overcome this, seedling transplants are often used in harsh sites. Irrigation and fertilizer may also be necessary for restoration efforts. This study evaluated the use of Waterboxx® devices and fertilizer as tools to aid in the establishment of C. ledifolius seedlings on a mine land overburden site. This study also evaluated effects of burying Waterboxx® devices according to manufacturer recommendations or installing them on the soil surface. The Waterboxx® works by collecting precipitation and condensation into a reservoir and then slowly releasing the stored water to the soil via a rope wick. We planted 96 C. ledifolius seedlings with no Waterboxx®, a one wick Waterboxx® device, a two wick Waterboxx® device, fertilizer, or a combination thereof in the spring of 2021. An additional 32 seedlings were planted with either a one wick Waterboxx® device or a two wick Waterboxx® device that were installed on the soil surface. When evaluated in summer of 2022, survival was substantially improved with buried Waterboxx® treatments relative to control. Vigor was improved with buried Waterboxx® devices containing one or two wicks; howver, they were not significantly different from each other. Regardless of whether Waterboxx® devices were placed on the soil surface or partially buried, survival was statistically better over time. Based on the results obtained, C. ledifolius seedlings appear to be a viable species for mine land overburden restoration in the semi-arid west of Utah and Waterboxx® devices significantly improve survival over time.

INTRODUCTION

Woody plant and tree establishment in disturbed semi-arid plant communities can be difficult due to poor soil conditions and low precipitation during summer months. Ecosystems in western North America that have been disturbed, either through mining or other anthropogenic influences, experience impacts to ecosystem functions such as biomass production and nutrient cycling (Sodhi & Ehrlich 2010). In such areas, native plant communities need to be restored to improve both the previously mentioned functions as well as the overall aesthetic component of the area. *Cercocarpus ledifolius* Nutt. (curl leaf mountain mahogany) is a broadly distributed tree native to western North America and is an important species in restoration. In younger stages, communities of *C. ledifolius* are valuable winter browse for large game such as deer, elk, and bighorn sheep (Smith et al. 1950; Hoskins & Dalke 1955). Not only is this species highly palatable but it's also one of few woody plant species that surpasses the protein requirements of wintering deer (Welch & McArthur 1979). Older communities additionally provide winter shelter for large as well as small animals like rodents and birds.

Cercocarpus ledifolius communities are capable of growing in habitats few other woody species can manage, such as rocky outcrops or steep slopes, and can therefore be used to physically stabilize soil in disturbed systems (Davis & Brotherson 1991). In the northern parts of its range, this species is distributed from 610-1372 m in elevation and down to 300 m or more in southern parts of its range (Martin 1950). Since *C. ledifolius* can grow and establish well while

stabilizing terrestrial environments, it is valued by land managers as a plant to revegetate disturbed hillsides in semi-arid regions like those in the western U.S.

In semi-arid lands, drought is often a major limiting factor for seedling establishment and, therefore, irrigation may be beneficial for restoration efforts in these areas and can dramatically improve survival and growth of native species of interest (Bainbridge, 2007). After the first critical year or two when *C. ledifolius* and other native woody plants are trying to establish a root system that can access water and nutrients, many of these semi-arid species can tolerate severe drought (Bainbridge, 2007).

The Waterboxx® (Groasis Water Saving Technologies, Steenbergen, North Brabant, Netherlands) device is a tool that collects condensation and precipitation, stores it in a reservoir, and applies it into the soil through capillary action via a rope wick on the bottom of the reservoir. It has been used to aid establishment of transplants in many semi-arid environments (Tapia et al., 2019; Gil-Docampo et al., 2020). These devices are typically installed by placing the device over seedlings and backfilling with soil approximately half the height of the Waterboxx® to keep the device in place (Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology 2021).

A second rope wick can be added to the base of the Waterboxx® prior to planting to allow water to be released more rapidly to the soil. The wicks are oriented near the transplanted seedlings to provide moisture to the soil and roots, helping the seedlings to grow and establish with the purpose of being self-sufficient within one or two years. The increase in water released to the soil with a second wick may potentially increase survival and vigor of seedlings planted in the Waterboxx® device.

After drought, low soil fertility can be a limiting factor for seedling establishment. Fertilizer is often used in restoration projects to relieve poor soil fertility caused by disturbance (Rodgers

& Anderson 1995; Eastham et al. 2006). Fertilization of these sites has met with some success in certain situations such as revegetation of waste rock piles in northern Idaho (McGheehan 2009).

Here we present a study to assess the ability of fertilizer, the Waterboxx \mathbb{R} device with one or two wicks, and installation of Waterboxx \mathbb{R} device relative to soil level to 1- improve the survival of *C. ledifolius* and 2- improve the vigor of *C. ledifolius*.

The research was conducted near Salt Lake City, Utah U.S.A at the Bingham Canyon Mine. This site is ideal for evaluating the performance of fertilizer and the Waterboxx® due to the extensive reclamation efforts being conducted, which include an emphasis on the reintroduction of *C. ledifolius*. This mine began operations on the porphyry copper deposit in 1903 (Tooker 1990) and has since produced more than three billion metric tons of waste rock, referred to as overburden, subsequently deposited in valleys and inclines nearby in the Oquirrh Mountain Range (Borden & Black 2005). Our research was focused on evaluating the use of fertilizer and the Waterboxx® for improving plant establishment on a reclaimed overburden hillside at the Bingham Canyon Mine.

Cercocarpus ledifolius occurs naturally in the neighboring hillsides in the Oquirrh Mountain Range in dominant communities alongside *Quercus gambelii* Nutt. (gambel's oak) and has been found on some overburden sites as natural volunteer vegetation between an elevation of 2000 and 2400 m (Borden and Black, 2005). Due to this, and its ability to grow in rocky outcrops and steep slopes, this species is a prime candidate for restoration efforts at the Bingham Canyon overburden sites.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Site

Waterboxx® devices were installed at the Bingham Canyon Copper Mine located in the Oquirrh mountain range, on the Yosemite waste rock dump (40.51263889, -112.1182611). The location of the site is associated with the Mountain Loan (Oak) (R047XA432UT) ecological site (Soil Survey Staff 2022). This area is located at an elevation of 1873 m within the mountain brush zone, which forms a transition between coniferous forest above and pinyon-juniper woodlands at lower elevations (Banner 1992). Prior to being covered by mining overburden the site was most likely dominated by small trees and woody plants.

Overburden materials deposited on the hillslope consist of varying ratios of monzonite, quartzite, and limestone (Borden 2001; Borden 2003). In 2015, the site was reclaimed by decreasing the slope of the hill to approximately 12% and covering the area with a 1-m thick layer of crushed rock and stockpiled topsoil. This growth media was then ripped perpendicular to the slope using dozers to create small terraces ~ 0.5 m wide and spaced ~ 1 m apart. The site was then hydroseeded with a seed mix comprised of native and introduced species, which is reviewed and approved by the Division of Oil Gas and Mining. Introduced perennial grasses were the most successful at establishing with *Thinopyrum intermedium* L. (intermediate wheat grass), being the dominant species. There were also smaller amounts of other native and introduced grasses and forbs, and only a trace number of woody plants, except for *Ericameria nauseosa* ex Pursh G.L. Nesom & Baird (rubber rabbitbrush). Ten soil samples were collected in a random pattern across the Yosemite overburden site at a depth of 30cm. All samples were combined into one and then submitted to the BYU Environmental Analytical Laboratory for analysis. The combined soil had a pH of 7.5, with a gravelly clay loam soil texture. Mean yearly precipitation at the site is ~613 mm (Figure 7) (Prism Climate Group 2021).

Modification to Waterboxx® Devices with Fertilizer Field Trial

Cercocarpus ledifolius Nutt. (curl leaf mountain mahogany) seedlings were planted in late spring (May 2021) in a randomized factorial design with eight blocks. Seedling pairs were planted ~15 cm apart on an east-west arrangement, with each pair given one of eight treatments: 1- planted with no Waterboxx® (control), 2- planted with a one wick Waterboxx® or 3- a two wick Waterboxx®, 4- planted with fertilizer (The Scotts Company, LLC, Marysville, Ohio) and no Waterboxx®, 5- fertilizer and a one wick Waterboxx®, 6- fertilizer and a two wick Waterboxx®, 7- planted with a one wick Waterboxx® placed on the soil surface, or 8- planted with a two wick Waterboxx® placed on the soil surface.

Twenty-one-gram long-lasting fertilizer tablets with a rating of 20-10-5 NPK and minor amounts of Ca, Mg, Su, B, Cu, Fe, Mn, and Zn were used. The fertilizer treatment was applied by placing one tablet in each hole, covered lightly with soil with the seedlings planted directly above either with or without a Waterboxx®.

Prior to planting, seedlings were caged with Vexar®, (Forestry Suppliers, Jackson, Mississippi), a flexible UV inhibited polyethylene and polypropylene material. Each seedling was wrapped in its entirety to deter herbivory to roots and shoots from rodents and ungulates (Figure 8). Holes for planting were dug with a 30.5 cm diameter motorized auger (Kohler Co., Kohler, Wisconsin) debris was cleaned out by hand with shovels. Seedlings were planted deep enough that the soil level met the root flare.

Waterboxx® devices were installed according to manufacturer recommendations unless receiving the surface Waterboxx® treatment (Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology 2021). Prior to planting, evaporation covers, rectangular corrugated plastic designed to discourage soil water evaporation, were trimmed to fit around caging and placed around the seedling pairs on top of the soil. Waterboxx® devices were placed over seedlings positioned

inside the central openings, wicks pointing inward toward the seedlings and lightly covered in soil. Insulation plates were placed inside, covers placed on top and drainage tubes pressed into holes in the covers. Water filling caps in the cover were positioned to face north (Figure 7). These boxes were either placed on the surface or backfilled around the outside with soil and rock ~10 cm high to hold them in place depending on the treatment. Both seedling pairs planted with and without a Waterboxx® were watered directly with 3 L. Waterboxx® devices were then filled with 15 L of water.

Seedling survival was evaluated on 15 June 2020, 14 October 2020, 5 May 2022 and 7 July 2022 and was determined by a scratch test, which was done by using a fingernail to gently scratch 0.5 cm of bark approximately halfway up the stem to reveal the cambium layer, or evaluating leaf production. Seedlings with stems that revealed wet, green cambium tissue were rated living. Those with dry, brittle, and brown cambium were rated dead.

Vigor was evaluated on 5 May 2022 and again 7 July 2022 and was determined by rating on a scale from 1 to 5. Rating categories were designated in this manner: 1- seedling was dead; 2- seedling had 0-25% leaf cover on existing branches; 3- seedling had 26-50% leaf cover on existing branches; 4- seedling had 51-75% leaf cover on existing branches; 5- seedling had 76-100% leaf cover on existing branches.

Data Analysis

All analyses were conducted with JMP® version 16 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). One way ANOVA and mixed model analysis was used to analyze both percent survival and vigor rating. Differences were considered significant when P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Precipitation and Air Temperature

The long-term averages (1991-2020) for precipitation show most precipitation occurs in winter and spring with maximum monthly precipitation (~74 mm) being reached in May. Over the following summer months, precipitation steadily decreases by month with a minimum (~27 mm) reached in July and August. Beginning at the end of August, precipitation steadily increases into winter. Precipitation during the years of the study (2021-2022) do not follow the pattern of the long-term averages and vary greatly between years.

Our study was installed May 2021. That first year (2021) had ~94 mm less yearly precipitation with steep increases in precipitation in February, June, August, October, and December immediately followed by steep decreases. The highs and lows of the peaks were more extreme than the long-term averages by month (Figure 6). The sum of monthly precipitation for January to May 2022 was ~146 mm less than the long-term average for those months.

The long-term averages (1991-2020) for ambient air temperature for the study site show similar patterns for each year of the study (2021-2022) (Figure 6). Temperatures were lowest during the winter, often reaching a yearly minimum between December and February. Then temperatures slowly increased at the beginning of March, reaching a yearly maximum of 18-21°C by July or August, before slowly decreasing into winter. June and July of 2021 had slightly higher average monthly temperatures than the long-term averages for those months.

Survival Percentage

Fetilizer, Waterboxx® treatment, and sample date were significant (*P*=0.001; <0.001; 0.010) and there were no interactions (Table 3). Fertilizer decreased *C. ledifolius* seedling survival and was significantly lower than seedling survival in Waterboxx® devices with no fertilizer (Figure 8). Fertilizer in Waterboxx® treatments were not significantly different from Waterboxx® devices without fertilizer but there was a clear trend of lower seedling survival. Seedlings grown

in a Waterboxx® with either one or two wicks had 100% and 175% increase in the number of plants that survived to the end of the study, respectively (Figure 8). Waterboxx® devices installed on the surface had sirgnificantly better survival in May 2022 than the control but were not significantly different in July because of a slight decrease in survival with Waterboxx® devices devices on the surface. Howerver, buried Waterboxx® devices were significantly different than the control at any evaluation period in 2022 (Table 4; Figure 10).

Vigor

Waterboxx® treatments significantly (*P*=0.0015) improved seedling vigor, but fertilizer did not (Table 3). There was no statistical improvement in vigor with a one wick Waterboxx® but seedlings growing from a two wick Waterboxx® had 154% higher ratings than the control (Figure 9). Vigor of seedlings in Waterboxx® devices buried or installed on the surface did not significantly differ from each other but buried Waterboxx® seedlings had significantly better vigor than control seedlings (Figure 10). Waterboxx® devices installed on the surface were not significantly different than the control (Table 4; Figure 11).

DISCUSSION

Restoration work in semi-arid regions of the Western United States, as well as other parts of the world, struggle for perennial plant establishment primarily due to limited water resources and low soil fertility. Use of irrigation devices may help improve revegetation success. *Cercocarpus ledifolius* is a valuable woody species native to the mountain west and adapted to a semi-arid environment. It is a good candidate for restoration of disturbed sites due to its ability to grow in rocky soil and steep slopes (Davis & Brotherson 1991). Our results provide evidence that *C*.

ledifolius is a viable species for mine overburden restoration with Waterboxx® devices but without the addition of fertilizer.

Higher temperatures during summer months increase the risk of heat damage to seedlings but this damage can be lessened by leaf cooling through transpiration (Hetherington & Woodward 2003). However, increased transpiration necessitates increased water use during the summer drought period when additional water may not be available. The Waterboxx® device may provide additional water to mitigate this drought stress on seedlings and our results recognize *C*. *ledifolius* seedling survival and vigor is significantly improved with a Waterboxx® device.

Results of our study demonstrated the Waterboxx® substantially improved seedling survival relative to the control, with seedlings grown from a Waterboxx® with either one or two wicks had 100% and 175% increase in the number of plants that survived to the end of the study, respectively (Figure 8). As for vigor, there was no statistical improvement with a one wick Waterboxx® but seedlings growing from a two wick Waterboxx® had 154% higher ratings than the control (Figure 11). Results also showed that combining the Waterboxx® with fertilizer provided no additional improvement in plant survival or vigor, regardless of the number of wicks in the Waterboxx®.

In the next analysis, we looked at the effect of either placing the Waterboxx® on the soil surface or burying the Waterboxx® partway into the ground. At first, an analysis was performed with the model, including both one and two-wick Waterboxx® devices, but no significant effect was detected. The one-wick Waterboxx® treatment was then dropped and ran the study with the two-wick Waterboxx®, as this was the top-performing treatment in the previous analysis. Results indicated that the improvement in seedling survival and plant vigor was not statistically

greater than the control when the Waterboxx[®] was placed on the soil surface. Clearly, the buried Waterboxx[®] with two wicks improved both seedling survival and vigor.

Fertilizer is often used in restoration projects to combat low soil fertility with some success in promoting growth of desired plants (McGeehan 2009); however, addition of fertilizer has often promoted growth of invasive species over native plants due to the latter's tendency to be adapted to low soil fertility (Gendron & Wilson 2007). Similarly to our study, other in field fertilization studies, decreased plant growth rates in plants adapted to low fertility soils compared to plants adapted to higher fertility soils during drought (Chapin 1980). Fehmi and Kong (2012) observed fertilizer resulted in a decline of semi-arid plant establishment on three soil types by more than 50%. Fertilizer treated seedlings in our study and other studies may have had lower vigor because of combined effects with drought creating a phytotoxic effect.

Overall, these results indicate that when *Cercocarpus ledifolius* is transplanted on reclaimed overburden dump sites, a Waterboxx® device can substantially improve success. A Waterboxx® device containing two-wicks, and buried in the soil as suggested by the manufacturer, with no fertilizer, was the best treatment to improve *C. ledifolius* seedling survival and vigor. *Cercocarpus ledifolius* will benefit mine overburden areas by physically stabilizing soils in these areas and creating an environment that will foster additional plants naturally migrating into the area thus improving the soil and wildlife habitat.

Additional considerations for future restoration work with Waterboxx® devices should include prevention of debris and unwanted weeds on and inside the devices. During this study, many Waterboxx® devices were clogged with wind-blown soil and plants, mostly grasses, growing on the cover and inside the reservoir hydroponically. Debris and plants were removed by hand during data collections. Though the water use by these hydroponic plants was likely

small, the blockage of collection tubes may significantly impact the ability of Waterboxx®

devices to collect precipitation and condensates and, therefore, affect seedling survival.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bainbridge DA (2007) A guide for desert and dryland restoration: new hope for arid lands. Island Press, Covelo, London
- Borden RK, Black R (2005) Volunteer revegetation of waste rock surfaces. Journal of Environmental Quality 34:2234-2242
- Chapin FS (1980) The mineral nutrition of wild plants. *Annual Review of Ecological and* Systematics 11:233-260
- Davis JN, Brotherson JD (1991) Ecological relationships of curlleaf mountain-mahogany (Cercocarpus ledifolious Nutt.) communities in Utah and implications for management. Great Basin Naturalist 51:153-166
- Eastham J, Morald T, Aylmore P (2006) Effective nutrient sources for plant growth on bauxite residue. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 176:5-19
- Fehmi JS, Kong TM (2012) Effects of soil type, rainfall, straw mulch, and fertilizer on semi-arid vegetation establishment, growth and diversity. *Ecological Engineering* 44:70-77
- Gendron F, Wilson SD (2007) Response to fertility and disturbance in a low-diversity grassland. *Plant Ecology* 191:299-207
- Gil-Docampo ML, Ortiz-Sanz J, Martínez-Rodríguez S, Marcos-Robles JL, Arza-García M, Sánchez-Sastre LF (2020) Plant survival monitoring with UAVs and multispectral data in difficult access afforested areas. *Geocarto International* 35:128-140
- Groasis Ecological Water Saving Technology (2003-2022) Planting Manual Groasis Waterboxx® https://www.groasis.com/en/manuals/how-to-plant-with-the-technology-ofgroasis (accessed 12 October 2020)
- Hetherington AM, Woodward FI (2003) The role of stomata in sensing and driving environmental change. *Nature* 424:901-908
- Hoskins LW, Dalke PD (1955) Winter browse on the Pocatello big game winter range in southeastern Idaho. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 19:215-225
- Martin FL (1950) A revision of Cercocarpus. Brittonia 7:91-111
- McGeehan SL (200) Impact of available nitrogen in mine site revegetation: a case study in the Coeus d/Alene (Idaho) mining district. *Community Soil Science* 155:114-122

- Rodgers CS, Anderson RC (1995) Plant growth inhibition by solube salts in sweage sludge amended mine spoils. *Journal of Environmental* Quality 24:627-630
- Smith AD (1950) Feeding deer on browse species during winter. Journal of Wildlife Management 16:309-312
- Sodhi NS, Ehrlich PR (2010) Conservation biology for all. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York
- Tapia PI, Negoita L, Gibbs JP, Jaramillo (2019) Effectiveness of water-saving technologies during early stages of restoration of endemic *Opuntia* cacti in the Galapagos Islands, Ecuador. *PeerJ* 7:e8156
- Tooker EW (1990) Gold in Bingham District, Utah. Pages 1-16 In: Shawe DR, Ashley RP (eds) USGS Bulletin 1857-E: Gold in Copper Porphyry Copper Systems. United States Geological Survey, Washington DC
- Welch BL, McArthur ED (1979) Feasibility of improving big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) for use on mule deer winter ranges. Pages 451-473 In: Gooding JR, Northington DK (eds) Proceedings of Arid Land Plant Resources. Intermountain Center for Arid and Semi-arid Land Studies, Texas Tech. University, Lubbock, Texas.





Figure 6 A comparison of precipitation and ambient temperatures experienced during the study (2021-2022) compared to long-term averages (1991-2021) at the study site.



Figure 7 Seedling grown in a ~655 cm3 tree pot, wrapped with Vexar® caging before plantings (left) and (right) *Cercocarpus ledifolius* seedlings growing in a Waterboxx® device.



Figure 8 Percent seedling survival over the course of the study for *Cercocarpus ledifolius* seedlings planted with no treatment (Control), in a Waterboxx® with one wick (1 wick), Waterboxx® with two wicks (2 wick), and these three different treatments planted with fertilizer. The graph shows mean values and its associated standard error. Values for given sample date that are superseded by the same letter are not significantly different as determined with the Tukey pairwise comparisons (P < 0.05).



Figure 9 Mean (\pm SE) vigor estimates of *Cercocarpus ledifolius* seedlings planted with and without fertilizer and either left with no further treatment or planted with a Waterboxx® that has one wick (1 wick), or two wicks (2 wick). Values with different lower-case letters are significantly different as determined with the Tukey pairwise comparison test (P < 0.05).



Figure 10 Percent seedling survival over the course of the study for *Cercocarpus ledifolius* seedlings planted with no treatment (Control), in a two wick Waterboxx® that was either place on the soil surface or buried 20 cm into the soil. The graph shows mean values and associated standard error. Values for given sample date that are superseded by the same letter are not significantly different as determined with the Tukey pairwise comparisons (P < 0.1).



Figure 11 Mean (\pm SE) vigor estimates of Cercocarpus ledifolius seedlings planted with and without fertilizer and either left with no further treatment or planted with a Waterboxx® that has one wick (1 wick), or two wicks (2 wick). Values with different lower-case letters are significantly different as determined with the Tukey pairwise comparison test (*P*<0.1).

TABLES

Table 3 Degrees of freedom (df), *F*, and *P* (*Pr*>*F*) values for an analysis of variance for the effect of fertilizer, Waterboxx® (W.Box), sample date (S. date) and their interactions on seedling survival. Table also shows the same statistical measures from a Mixed Model Analysis on the effect of plant vigor from the effect of fertilizer, Waterboxx® and these two interactions. *P* values in bold are statistically significant (*P*<0.05).

	Survival			_	Vigor		
	df	F Ratio	Prob > F	_	df	F Ratio	Prob > F
Fertilizer	1,180	11.8	0.001		1,42	2.15	0.1503
W. Box	2,180	17.5	<0.001		2,42	7.7	0.0015
S. Date	1,180	6.8	0.010				
Fertilizer+W.Box	2,180	0.1	0.896		2,42	0.1	0.9625
Fertilizer+Date	1,180	0.8	0.379				
W. Box+S. Date	2,180	1.7	0.178				
Fertilizer+W.Box+S.Date	2,180	0.4	0.676				

Table 4 Degrees of freedom (df), F, and P(Pr>F) values from a Repeated Measures Mixed Model analysis for the effect of treatments, sample date (S. date) and their interactions on seedling survival. Treatments included planting seedlings with and without a Waterboxx®, with the Waterboxx® either burred in the ground or placed on the soil surface. Table also shows the same statistical measures from a Mixed Model Analysis on the effect of plant vigor from the effect of the treatments. P values in bold are statistically significant (P<0.1).

	Survival			_		Vigo	r
	df	F Ratio	Prob > F	_	df	F Ratio	Prob > F
Treatment	2,90	9.03	0.001		2,21	3.3	0.057
S. Date	1,90	11.7	0.001				
Treatment X S.Date	2,90	2.0	0.145				

APPENDIX

SUPPLEMENTAL STUDIES

Soil Water Movement Greenhouse Trial

This study was conducted to observe water movement patterns of one and two wick Waterboxx® devices in soil. Soils were collected from two locations in Utah: the Yosemite waste rock dump where field trials were conducted and Elberta, UT from undisturbed public lands. The study was designed as a paired comparison design with three replicates. Their respective soil textures were gravelly clay loam and sandy loam, which were placed into Plexiglas® boxes to observe soil moisture movement.

Two Plexiglas® boxes (BYU Science Support Shop), measuring 0.5 meters in depth, width, and height, were filled with one of the two collected soils. Each box received one of two treatments: a one wick or two wick Waterboxx®. Waterboxx® devices were placed on top of the soil with the accompanying evaporation cover between it and the soil (Figure 11). The 1cm diameter rope wicks were lightly buried in the soil at a depth of 1 cm and the end of the rope wick was 1 cm from the wall of the Plexiglas® box. Waterboxx® devices were then filled with 15 L of water and the expansion of water through the soil was measured every 24 hours for three weeks. Water levels within each Waterboxx® were also recorded daily. Pictures were taken each day to visually record the shape and distribution of water movement through the soil over time.



Figure 12 Progression of water movement through the soil from Waterboxx® devices installed within a Plexiglas® box.

Water seeping into the soil is darker in color. a- 24 March 2021 (14 days after installation); b- 31 March 2021, c- 6 April 2021; d- 13 April 2021.

Greenhouse Sorghum bicolor Trial

Soil was collected from Elberta, Utah from the top four inches of soil under living *Artemisia tridentata* Nutt. (sagebrush). Forty 6-inch pots were filled with field soil to one inch from the top of the pot. Pots were then seeded with 15 *Sorghum bicolor* L. var. *Drummondii* (sudangrass)

seeds, covered with 0.5 inches of moist vermiculite and placed on greenhouse benches with drainage. Pots were watered 2-3 times a week to saturation and allowed to drain. A calcium nitrate solution (50ppm) equivalent to one-fourth the ppm found in Hoagland's solution (Hoagland & Arnon 1950), was added once a week, 500 mL of solution was applied to each pot.

At six and twelve weeks, soil samples (~50 grams), which included fine roots, were taken down to ~3 inches below the soil surface and sieved with 500, 250, and 45 μ m sieves and observed under a microscope. Numbers of mycorrhizal spores were observed and recorded. One inch root samples were also collected from the same pots and dyed with Trypan blue and examined for hyphal colonization.

Two spores total were observed from all pots (40 pots total) in sieved greenhouse *Sorghum bicolor* samples after six weeks of growth (Figure 12). No spores were observed at the twelveweek sampling when ten of 40 pots were sampled. Root colonization was observed through Trypan blue staining, at the six-week sampling period. At least two different fungi were differentiated by the presence of vesicles, terminal swellings of hyphae, observed in the roots. One fungal hyphae appeared to be an arbuscular mycorrhiza because it had vesicles. No root staining with Trypan blue was performed on roots sampled at the twelve-week interval because no spores were observed.



Figure 13 Sorghum bicolor roots stained with Trypan blue viewed at 40x. Dark blue regions are mycorrhizal mycelium and vesicles.

Growth Chamber Host Plant and Soil Depth Trial

Soils collected from Elberta, Utah and native undisturbed hillsides adjacent to the Bingham Canyon Mine overburden site in August 2020 constituted the two main plots, and at each location soil was collected from the roots of living *Artemisia tridentata* Nutt. (sagebrush). Subplots consisted of three different soil sampling depths: 4-6 inches, 6-10 inches, and 10-14 inches below the soil surface. The sub-sub-plots included four plant host species: *Sorghum bicolor* L. var. *Drummondii* (sundangrass), *Pennisetum glaucum* L. (pearl millet), *Bouteloua curtipendula* (Michx.) Torr. (sideoats grama), and *Trifolium pratense* L. (red clover). Each combination of soil, depth, and host plant was replicated three times.

Main and sub-plot soils (all three depths) were separately mixed with sterile sand in a 1:1 mixture. The soil and sand mixtures were used to fill 6-inch pots, seeded with host species 80-100 seeds per pot, and placed in a growth chamber. Temperatures were maintained at ~32 ° C, the light-dark cycle was 12 hours of light and 12 hours of darkness. Pots were watered 1-2 times a week as needed, and pots were allowed to fully drain.

After four, eight, and twelve months, above ground vegetation was removed and soil samples (~50 grams) with fine roots were taken down to ~3 inches below the soil surface from each combination of soil, depth, and host plant. Samples were sieved with 500, 250, and 45 μ m sieves and observed under a microscope. Numbers of mycorrhizal spores were observed and recorded. No spores were observed

Greenhouse Perlite Trial

Soil was collected 6 December 2022 from naturally vegetated hillsides adjacent to the Yosemite overburden site near the Bingham Canyon Copper Mine. The top four inches of soil were collected from beneath living *Artemisia tridentata* Nutt. (sagebrush). Soil was combined with perlite for two treatments: 50% perlite volume-to-volume and 60% perlite to 40% volumeto-volume mixtures. Each mixture was used to fill five 6-inch pots. All pots were seeded with 50 sudangrass seeds and placed on greenhouse benches. Pots were watered 2-3 times a week to saturation and allowed to drain. Plant fertility requirements were provided by a Hoagland's solution that was modified by removing all phosphorus and diluting it to one-quarter strength; it was applied once a week at 500 mL per pot.

After 12 weeks, soil samples (~50 grams) with fine roots were collected down to~3 inches below the soil surface from both treatments and sieved with 500, 250, and 45 µm sieves and observed under a microscope. Numbers of mycorrhizal spores were observed and recorded. No spores were observed

Commercial Mycorrhizae Trial

Soil previously collected from Elberta, Utah was air dried and sterilized in an autoclave at 121°C for 20 minutes in 1-gallon batches. Soil was used to fill nine 6-inch pots and ~10 grams of Biocoat Gold® (Advancing Eco Agriculture, Middlefield, Ohio) powder in 100mL of water was mixed into the top inch of soil in each pot. Of the nine pots, three were seeded with five *Sorghum bicolor* L. var. *Drummondii* (sudangrass) seeds, three with five *Eragrostis curvula* (Schrad.) Nees (weeping Lovegrass) seeds, and three with five *Bouteloua curtipendula* (Michx.) Torr. (sideoats grama) seeds. Pots were placed on greenhouse benches and watered two times each week to saturation and allowed to drain.

Twelve 6-inch pots were filled with sterilized Elberta soil and divided into groups of four. Each group of pots had either 100 mL of liquid Endoprime®, liquid Endofuze®, or ~10 grams of Ultrafine Endo® (MycoApply, Grants Pass, Oregon) applied to the soil. Each mycorrhizal powder product was dissolved in 100mL of water and then mixed into the top inch of soil in each pot. The four pots were replicates for each commercial mycorrhizal treatment. All twelve pots were seeded with five *S. bicolor* seeds each. Pots were placed on greenhouse benches and watered two times a week to saturation and allowed to drain.

After six weeks, soil samples (~50 grams) with fine roots were taken down to ~3 inches below the soil surface from both treatments and sieved with 500, 250, and 45 μ m sieves and observed under a microscope. Numbers of mycorrhizal spores were observed and recorded.

No spores were observed

Outdoor Compost Trial

Soil was collected from the roots of living *Artemisia tridentata* Nutt. (sagebrush) from native undisturbed hillsides adjacent to the Bingham Canyon Yosemite overburden site on 25 February 2022. Soil was mixed with sterile sand at a 1:3 ratio by volume. Sand was previously sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 20 minutes in one-gallon batches. The mixture was used to fill six-inch pots and *S. bicolor* seedlings were transplanted into these pots. *Sorghum bicolor* L. var. *Drummondii* (sudangrass) seedlings were started in flats (10.94" W x 21.44" L x 2.44" H) of vermiculite on 28 January 2022. Flats containing the seedlings and the pots they were transplanted into were overhead watered twice a week to saturation and allowed to drain.

The last week of April, after the last frost, five 7 gallon grow bags were filled three quarters full with a 1:4 by volume compost and vermiculite mixture. Compost was collected from the Payson City, Utah landfill and has a high woody composition. A half cup of Yosemite soil was added to each grow bag and mixed thoroughly. Five *S. bicolor* seedlings were transplanted into each grow bag.

Grow bags were placed outside and watered and weeded as needed during the 2022 growing season. At the end of the growing season, *S. bicolor* senesced naturally by frost and remained outside during the winter. In spring 2023, all above ground vegetation will be removed and discarded. Roots will be harvested from the soil and cut to 1-1.5 inch segments. Soil will be sieved with 500, 250, and 45 µm sieves and observed under a microscope. Observed mycorrhizal spores will be recorded. Root segments will be dyed with Trypan blue and examined for colonization.